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1930er Jahren nicht vergessen haben. Sie handeln nach der Devise, die
Geldschleusen lieber zu stark als zu wenig zu öffnen. Das schafft
zweifellos neue Probleme, aber eine passive Geldpolitik würde ungleich
grösseren Schaden anrichten. Ohne die beherzte Aktion der EZB im
Dezember 2011 wäre wahrscheinlich noch vor Weihnachten eine
katastrophale Bankenkrise ausgebrochen, die nicht nur Europa, sondern die
gesamte Weltwirtschaft beeinträchtigt hätte. Wir können einzig hoffen,
dass die EZB mit ihren Liquiditätsspritzen die Lage so lange stabilisieren

kann, bis die Politikerinnen und Politiker die notwendigen Schritte
beschlossen haben. Wenn dies gelingt, so hätten wir uns den richtigen
Reim auf die Krise der 1930er Jahre gemacht.
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Confronting the unthinkable: The International Committee
of the Red Cross and the Cuban missile crisis,
October–November 1962 Part One)

François Bugnion*

Towards a third world war?

On Sunday, 14 October 1962, two American U-2 spy planes overflying Cuba at
very high altitude took photos which, in the view of American intelligence
services, showed that the Soviets were installing missile launch pads on the island
that could carry nuclear warheads. After having analysed the photos, the experts
forecast that the Sovietmissileswould become operational between25and 27
October.

At the crack of dawn on Tuesday, 16 October, the American National Security

Adviser, McGeorge Bundy, informed President John F. Kennedy of the presence

of missile bases in Cuba. The same day, Kennedy convened a small group of
advisers, the National Security Council Executive Committee. The Committee
would meet in great secrecy, two or three times a day, over the following
fortnight. From their very first meeting, its members agreed that all means – including

massive air raids – had to be used to stop the missiles from becoming operational,

at which point they would pose a direct threat to American cities. Aware,
however, that airstrikes would cause losses not only among Cuban soldiers but
also among the Soviet engineers and technicians installing the launch pads, Kennedy

preferred to defer his decision. On 20 October, he announced to the Executive

Committee that he had opted for a naval blockade of all offensive weapons
deliveries to Cuba. The navy and other relevant services were immediately put
on alert.

On Monday, 22 October, at the end of the day, Secretary of State Dean Rusk
called the Soviet Ambassador toWashington, Anatoly Dobrynin, to the State
Department and handed him, without comment, a letter from Kennedy to Nikita
Khrushchev. In that letter, Kennedy stated his determination to see the Soviet

* François Bugnion is an independent consultant in humanitarian law and humanitarian
action. He joined the International Committee of the Red Cross inMay 1970, and from
2000 to 2006 he was Director for International Law and Cooperation. Since May 2010,
he is a member of the International Committee. English translationby MrsSusan Mutti.
This article is the first of a two-part series. The second part willbe published in the next
issue of this journal.



missiles withdrawn from Cuba. Rusk also handed over the text of a speech to the
nation that the president was about to pronounce.

At 7 p.m. Washington time, in a televisedspeech with Churchillianovertones,
Kennedy stupefied the American people and the world with the announcement
that the Soviets were building missile bases in Cuba and that this was considered
an intolerable threat to the entire American continent. He demanded that the
Soviet weapons be removed, under United Nations supervision, and stated that
he had ordered the establishment of a “strict quarantine” within an area of 500
nautical miles 800 kilometres) from the eastern tip of the island. This was in fact
a form of blockade – even though the term was not used – aimed at ensuring that
Cuba-bound ships did not carry nuclear warheads or bombers able to transport
atomic bombs. Kennedy also declared that if a nuclear missile launched from
Cuba reached any nation in the Western Hemisphere, the United States would
retaliate by attacking the USSR. He called on Khrushchev to withdraw the
missiles from Cuba and “move the world back from the abyss of destruction”. He
concluded by recalling that “the cost of freedom is always high – and Americans
have always paid it”.

“In my memory, it was the grimmest and gravest speech ever made by a head
of State”, the United Nations secretary-general would later write.1

A few hours later, the Soviet news agency TASS published a communiqué in
which the Soviet Government rejected the American demands and denounced
the blockade, calling it an act of piracy and a first step towards thermonuclear
war. In a letter to Kennedy, Khrushchev asserted that the USSR was installing
only defensive weapons in Cuba and declared that the measures announced by
the president “constituted a serious threat to the peace and security of nations”.
For the first and only time, the United States and the Soviet Union entered into
a direct confrontation over their nuclear weapons.

Both sides put their armed forces on maximum alert.2 In the United States,
the USSR andCuba,reserve troopswere calledupand conventional forcesplaced
on a war footing. As Soviet vessels sailed for the Caribbean, the American air
force and navy prepared to intercept them. Humanity appeared to be rushing
headlong towards self-destruction.

This was hardly a bolt out of a clear blue sky: since Fidel Castro and his
barbudos had triumphantly entered Havana on 8 January 1959, the relations
between the United States and Cuba had steadily worsened. Eventually on 2 July
1962, Fidel Castro’s brother, Raul Castro, Minister of Defence, signed a military
cooperation agreement in Moscow between the USSR and Cuba. Two months
later, on 3 September, following a visit by Che Guevara to Moscow, the USSR
announced that it would step up its military aid to Cuba so as to allow the latter
to cope with “the imperialist threats”. After the Americans reacted, the Kremlin
proclaimed on 11 September: “Our nuclear weapons are so powerful, and the
Soviet Union has such powerful rockets to carry these nuclear warheads, that

1 U Thant, View from the UN, Doubleday & Co, New York, 1978, p. 155.
2 For the first – and only – time in history, American strategic forces were placed on the

highest peace-time level of alert. This meant that nuclear missiles were launch-ready,
and that a specific number of strategic bombers carrying nuclear or thermonuclear
bombs were kept permanently in the air. Polaris nuclear-armed submarines dived to
their assigned positions deep in the oceans.
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there is no need to search for sites for them outside the boundaries of the Soviet
Union.” A smokescreen for the preparationsbeing made in Cuba, thedeclaration
reflects the tone of the threats being made by both sides. The United States
reacted on 13 September, warning the Soviet Union not to install offensive weapons

in Cuba. The next day, Kennedy asked Congress for the necessary powers to
call up, if needed,150,000 reserve troops. The stand-off between theUnited States
and Cuba henceforth played out alongside a power struggle between the United
States and the USSR. Never had the world appeared so close to the third world
war everyone dreaded but for which the superpowers were constantly preparing.

The quarantine took effect on Wednesday, 24 October 1962 at 10 a.m. EST.
The same day, U Thant, acting United Nations secretary-general, read the Security

Council the appeal he had just addressed to Kennedy and Khrushchev asking
them to agree to a two- or three-week moratorium during which the USSR would
refrain from establishing any missiles or bombers in Cuba, under international
supervision, and the United States would lift the quarantine.

The worldheld its breath during those days,when the slightest incidentwould
have sufficed to push humanity over the brink into a final conflagration. On
25 October, U Thant renewed his appeal for a moratorium. The United States
representativeon the Security Council,Adlai Stevenson,commented on theaerial
photos showing the presence of Soviet missile bases in Cuba, which led to verbal
sparringbetweenhim and theSovietrepresentative, AmbassadorValerianZorin,
of a harshness rarely seen.

On Friday, 26 October, a Sovietrepresentativeunofficially askedwhether the
United States would pledge not to invade Cuba if the Soviets withdrew their
missiles. Radio Moscow, for its part, proposed the simultaneous withdrawal of
American missiles from Turkey and Soviet missiles from Cuba.

Kennedy responded that the United States would undertake not to invade
Cuba and would lift the quarantine if the missile bases were dismantled under
effective international supervision.

On Saturday, 27 October, an American U-2 spy plane entered – apparently
accidently – Soviet airspace, notching the temperature up a few more degrees.
The same day, another U-2 spy plane was destroyed above Cuba, causing the
pilot’s death. American intelligence services announced that a Soviet oil tanker
was getting ready to force the blockade and that the Soviet diplomats stationed
in Washington and New York had started shredding their files in anticipation of
war. Clearly, the slightest misstep by the political authorities on either side would
lead the situation to spiral out of control and end in a nuclear confrontation.

On Sunday,28 October, Khrushchev finally announced that the USSR agreed
to dismantle the bases and to withdraw its offensive weapons from Cuba, under
international supervision. Kennedy called his declaration an “important
contribution to peace”. The next day, however, he ordered American ships to stay in
position so as to ensure compliance with the quarantine. U Thant then asked the
Americans to lift the quarantine, but this they refused to do so long as the
missiles had not in fact been withdrawn from Cuba under international supervision. 3

3 Keesing’s Contemporary Archives, 1962, pp. 19057–19071; The Cuban Missile Crisis,
1962:ANationalSecurity ArchiveDocument Reader, revisededition, editedbyLaurence
Chang and Peter Kornbluh, The New Press, New York, 1998; Arthur M. Schlesinger,
A Thousand Days: John F. Kennedy in the White House, Fawcett Publications, Green-
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situent clairement le couple à un niveau social où la règlementation
somptuaire n’est guère contraignante. Même si le mobilier décrit dans
l’inventaire, généralement en noyer, paraît souvent fatigué et «à la
vieille mode» comme son propriétaire, ces tentures murales et garnitures
de lit en tapisserie que Franconis affectionnait, sa vaisselle d’argent, les
porcelainesréservéesàson propreusage,unecinquantainede tableaux,29

plusieurs panoplies d’armes, quelques meubles en racine30 ou décorés
de laques d’Extrême-Orient,31 composent un bel intérieur baroque. En
somme, Franconis neparaît pas avoir réglésaconduite surune législation
que, d’ailleurs, il n’invite pas non plus ses enfants à respecter.

Qu’ils lui aient appartenu ou qu’ils aient été destinés à la revente,
deux réveils, l’un à boîte d’or, l’autre d’argent, chacun dans un étui de
chagrin orné de clous de même métal, une montre à boîte d’or que
Franconis lègue à son épouse, une tabatière en nacre et une autre garnie
d’or et de diamants, participent d’un train de vie où l’on négocie au
mieux avec sa conscience et dans le souci à la fois réel et rhétorique du
bien commun. Quant à la législation somptuaire, elleest, depuisun siècle
déjà, notoirement impuissante à encadrer les comportements des élites;
bien loin de maintenir la cohésion d’une communauté par la modestie
partagée de ses pratiques, elle inscrit dans l’usage une distinction de
statuts dont elle réglemente les apparences, protégeant l’oligarchie
d’une concurrence indue et lui offrant un moyen de contrôler l’ordre
social. Au sommet de la pyramide, là où l’on s’intitule volontiers
«Noble» comme les Franconis, on se tient autour de la limite supérieure
fixée par la loi, laquelle multiplie les exceptions en faveur des élites ou
d’étonnants silences, brouillant le sens des interdits et donnant à la
norme quelque chose d’à la fois incertain, malléable et perméable.

Un exemple: «une épée que l’on croit d’argent» 32 comme celle que
possède Franconis, est-elle dans la norme? La loi ne dit rien sur les
armes, symbole nobiliaire s’il en est, dont Rousseau d’ailleurs se défera

Jur. Civ. E11/205).
29 Quarante tableaux sont estimés par le peintre Robert Gardelle.
30 La racine et la loupe, parties du bois présentant des motifs tourmentés, sont très

appréciées par les ébénistes.
31 Guillaume Franconis a offert en 1707 un «buffet des Indes» à la Bibliothèque publique

de Genève: ils’agitd’uncabinet japonaisaujourd’huiconservé auMuséed’ethnographie.
Voir Jean Eracle, «Enquête sur un cabinet japonais» in: Le visage multiplié du monde.
Quatre siècles d’ethnographie à Genève, Genève, 1985, pp. 185–191, et Danielle Buyssens,

«Le premier musée de Genève» in: «La Bibliothèque étant un ornement public...»
réforme et embellissements de la Bibliothèque de Genève en 1702, études réunies et
publiées par D. Buyssens et Thierry Dubois, Genève / Chêne-Bourg, 2002, p. 128.

32 AEG, Arch. de famille, 1re série, Franconis, vol. IV, Inventaire deGuillaume Franconis,
p. 40.
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The questionnowwas how the dismantling of theSoviet missile bases in Cuba
was tobe supervised,aquestion thatwould beat theheartof the diplomaticefforts
to resolve the crisis. The consent of the Cuban authorities had to be obtained –
no easy task given, as was subsequently revealed, that the Soviets had not
consulted them before deciding to withdraw the missiles. U Thant visited Havana
from 30 to 31 October and tried to convince Castro to agree to the presence of
United Nations inspectors – in vain. Castro was opposed to the presence of any
international inspectors in Cuba, asserting that the sole purpose of on-site
verification was to humiliate the Cuban Government and people. He opposed any
inspection of ships in Cuban ports, but said that if the Soviets agreed to inspection

on the high seas, that was their business. On 31 October, the secretarygeneral

returned empty-handed to New York with his entire delegation, including

the military advisers who had gone along to examine the inspection terms and
conditions with the Cuban authorities.4

A key component of the agreement between the United States and the
Soviet Union was thus in question. On 31 October, U Thant reported on his
mission to the members of the Security Council, and, on 1 November, Washington
announced that the quarantine, which had been lifted during the secretarygeneral’s

mission, had been restored and that American spy planes had resumed
their flights over Cuba. The strategic forces of both sides remained on full alert.5

Since Castro rejected any supervision of the dismantling of missile bases in
Cuba, the negotiations toresolve the crisis shifted to inspection of Soviet ships on
the high seas, and it was with that option in mind that the United Nations turned
to the ICRC.

The ICRC’s involvement

The ICRC’s offer of services and the United Nations appeal

On the evening of 25 October 1962, as the tension reached a zenith and the world
stood by while Washington and Moscow engaged in a battle of increasingly
aggressive declarations and stepped-up military preparations, with no sign that
the crisis would be peacefully resolved, Roger Gallopin 1909–1986), ICRC
executive director, who was travelling through New York on his way back from a
mission to Latin American and the United States, met at United Nations
headquarters with a man well-known to the ICRC, Martin Hill, United Nations
deputy under-secretary-general; Gallopin told Hill informally, on behalf of ICRC
President Léopold Boissier 1893–1968), that the ICRC stood ready, should the
need arise, to support the secretary-general’s initiative in any way in its power.
The information was transmitted the following day to the secretary-general’s chef
de cabinet:

wich Conn.), 1965, pp. 726–769; U Thant, View from the UN, op. cit., pp. 154–194
and 460–471; André Fontaine, Histoire de la Guerre froide, Fayard, Paris, 1971, Vol. II,
pp. 483–514 and 556.

4 U Thant, op. cit., pp. 177–190.
5 Keesing’s Contemporary Archives, 1963, p. 19238.
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“Mr Gallopin, Delegate General [sic] of the International Committee of the
Red Cross, came to see me yesterday evening. He (…) had been asked by
Mr Boissier, the President of the International Red Cross, to convey to us
informally the Committee’s readiness and desire to help the Secretary-
General in any way in its power, should the need arise. I thanked him and
promised to convey this kind message.”6

There is no trace of Gallopin’s representation in the ICRC’s archives. We know
about it only from Martin Hill’s note. The idea nevertheless soon caught hold. On
26 October, U Thant met separately with the delegates of the United States and
the Soviet Union in an endeavour to negotiate the terms of a resolution to the
crisis. During his meeting with Ambassador Zorin, the secretary-general
announced that the United States Government was prepared to suspend the blockade

for two to three weeks, with the proviso that measures would be taken to
guarantee that ships arriving in Cuba were not supplying any weaponry during
this period. The inspections could be carried out on the high seas or in Cuban
ports; responsibility forconducting them could be given to United Nations inspectors

from neutral countries or to ICRC representatives.7

U Thant repeated his proposal during further interviews with the delegates
of the United States and the Soviet Union on 29 October. The aim by then was
to sort out the conditions for the dismantling of the Soviet missile sites in Cuba
and for the inspection of ships bound for the Caribbean. During a meeting with
the new Soviet delegate, Deputy Foreign Minister Vassili Kuznetsov, whom
Khrushchev had dispatched to New York to help resolve the crisis, U Thant
described three possibilities for the inspection of ships bound for Cuba: by American

vessels, by neutral countries or by the ICRC.8 Kuznetsov declared that his
Government would be prepared to allow ICRC representatives board Soviet
vessels.9 The United States agreed to that procedure, provided that the inspectors
appointed by the ICRC were exclusively Swiss.10

It was in the wake of those discussions that U Thant turned to the ICRC; the
latter had not been informed of the secretary-general’s initiative, nor of the
follow-up to the offerofservices transmittedby Roger Gallopin.Understandably,
therefore, the United Nations request took the ICRC by surprise.11

6 Interoffice memorandum from Martin Hill, deputy under-secretary general, to C. V.
Narasimhan, the secretary-general’s chef de cabinet, 26 October 1962, reproduced in
Chadwyck-Healey Inc. & The National Security Archives ed.), Documents on the
Cuban Missile Crisis 1962, Microfiche Collection, Chadwyck-Healey, Alexandria, 1990,
document 1392, cited by Thomas Fischer, “The ICRC and the Cuban missile crisis”,
International Review of the Red Cross IRRC), Vol. 83, No. 842, June 2001, p. 294.
Mr Fischer kindly pointed us in the direction of several significant documents relating
to the ICRC’s involvement in the Cuban missile crisis that were not available in the
ICRC’s archives. We are deeply grateful to him. Mr Gallopin was not the ICRC dele-gate-

general but its executive director.
7 Thomas Fischer, loc. cit., pp. 294–295.
8 Ibid., pp. 298–299.
9 Ibid.; U Thant, op. cit., pp. 179–180.

10 Fischer, loc. cit., p. 299.
11 The feeling of surprise can begleaned from the minutes of the Committee’s meeting of

31 October and 1 November 1962: “Since the discussion, following the unexpected
request from the United Nations...”, ICRC Archives, A PV A Pl, Minutes of the Com-
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In any event, on the evening of Monday, 29 October EST), shortly before
taking off for Havana, U Thant, acting with the consent of the United States and
the Soviet Union, asked the directorof the United Nations European Office,
Ambassador Piero Spinelli, to request the ICRC’s assistance in visiting ships bound
for Cuba so as to ensure their cargo comprised no offensive weapons.12

The following day, Tuesday, 30 October 1962, at 8 a.m., Ambassador Spinelli
contacted Léopold Boissier and handed him a confidential aide-mémoire summing

up the instructions he had been given by the secretary-general during the
night. The aide-mémoire read as follows:

“1. A major difficulty has arisen in the Cuban quarantine matter
because – while the USSR has agreed to suspend arms shipments – there are no
indications from the part of Washington to lift the quarantine except for the
two days of U Thant’s presence in Havana), and the main reason for this
attitude of the USA is the argument that there is no means of verifying the
Moscow affirmation that arms shipments to Cuba have indeed been
suspended.

2. During the conversations which the Secretary-General, U Thant, had
yesterday with representatives of the interested countries, a proposal was
made regarding an agreed verification procedure which would be implemittee,

plenary sessions, Wednesday, 31 OctoberandThursday, 1 November1962, p. 14
ICRC translation). Inboth its internaldocumentsand in its public statements, the ICRC

steadfastly referred to thesecretary-general’s initiative, never giving to understand that
the initiative had been prompted by a representation made by the ICRC itself.

12 “I then had the UN office in Geneva contact the International Committee of the Red
Cross ICRC), and thatsame afternoon received the reply that ICRC would undertake
the assignment, but only, of course, with the consent of the Cuban government”, U
Thant, op. cit., p. 180. U Thant places the request on 29 October, whereas the ICRC’s
documents indicate the dateof30October; however, a representation made on the
evening of 29 October in New York would take place in the early hours of the morning of
30 October in Geneva. Inaddition, one or two hours may have elapsed between the time
U Thant, from New York, instructed Spinelli to contact the ICRC, and the time that
contact was indeed made. In an article entitled, “Paul Ruegger –Envoyé extraordinaire
de l’humanité”, Melchior Borsinger, who was at the time adviser to President Léopold
Boissier, was deeply involved in the ICRC’shandling of the crisis and accompanied Paul
Rueggeronhis mission to New York, speaksofa representation U Thant is said to have
made to Boissierat 4 a.m.: “It was in the nightof 30 to 31 October1962, at 4 in the
morning, that U Thant asked Léopold Boissier, who was president at the time, whether the
International Committee could inspect ships bound for Cuba that were the object of a
blockade by the United States”, Melchior Borsinger, “Paul Ruegger – Envoyé
extraordinaire de l’humanité”, in: Victor Umbricht ed.), À Paul Ruegger pour son 80e
anniversaire,14 août 1977, Schudel, Riehen/Basel, 1977, pp. 155–162, at p. 159 ICRC
translation). Borsinger’s account is borne out by that of Paul Ruegger, who was also closely
involved in handling the crisis:“Thant, whowasan excellentmanof the finest kind,very
sensitive, was undoubtedly at one pointpanic-stricken by the looming disaster. Hecalled
Boissier during the night and, when he finally reached him, told him that the situation
was grave and that he was calling on the Red Cross forassistance.Then MrSpinelli, who
was at the time Director-General of the United Nations European headquarters in
Geneva, came to see President Boissier and told him again that the Secretary-General
was extremely worried”, Ruegger declared in March 1988 in the framework of a project
aimedatsettingdown theaccounts ofcertain ICRCstaff andofficials in an“oralhistory”,
ICRC, Oral History, Interview with Paul Ruegger, former ICRC president, 8-10 March
1988, transcript, p. 62 ICRC translation).
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mented by trustworthy inspectors of an internationalorganisation. Naturally,
the first organisation considered was the International Red Cross.

3. We believe that the solution of this problem is a crucial issue. In addition

to the humanitarian consideration regarding possible political and military

complications, there is the factor that failure to solve the inspection problem

might result in a continued and expanded quarantine that could affect
seriously the supply of food, medical supplies and other essential items
required by the civilian population of Cuba. U Thant is therefore asking
whether theRedCross could consider participation along the following lines:

a) provision of perhaps 30 inspectors to function for the purpose of
inspecting cargoes of incoming ships and satisfying themselves that no arms
shipments are involved;

b) selectionof these inspectors wouldbe entirely in the handsof the Red
Cross;

c) suitable conditions of service would be worked out by the United
Nations which would bear all costs and would provide administrative and
logistical support services;

d) inspectors would proceed initially to New York for detailed briefing
and would then depart for designated duty stations underarrangements made
by the United Nations;

e) actual verification action may not be required for more than a month
in all.

Geneva,
30 October 1962”13

As can be seen, the aide-mémoire does not mention the offer of services made by
Roger Gallopin on 25 October.

Léopold Boissier immediately replied to Ambassador Spinelli that the ICRC
could not consider the request unless asked to do so by the three parties directly
involved, namely Cuba, the USSR and the United States. He added that he could
not commit the organization without first consulting the ICRC plenary Assembly,

which would meet the following day.14

This request was to confront the ICRC with an extremely difficult choice. On
the one hand, the mandate the United Nations wished to confer on it obviously
far exceeded the traditional scope of its humanitarian mission; on the other, it felt
that it could not refuse, given the threat to world peace and the risk to humanity’s
survival.

13 ICRC Archives, B AG 200 060-011, letter from the European Office of the United
Nations to the president of the ICRC, 30 October 1962, and appended memorandum;
Melchior Borsinger, “Paul Ruegger – Envoyé extraordinaire de l’humanité”, in: Paul
Ruegger, op. cit., pp. 158–159.

14 ICRC Archives, A PV A PL, Minutes of the Committee, plenary sessions, Wednesday,
31 October and Thursday, 1 November 1962, p. 4.
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The deliberations of the ICRC Assembly

As President Boissier had told Ambassador Spinelli, the ICRC plenary Assembly

was scheduled to meet in ordinary session on Wednesday, 31 October, at 4.30
p.m. However, given the urgency and exceptional nature of the United Nations
request, Boissier convened an extraordinary session the same day at 11 a.m. In
order not to arouse suspicions, he decided to ask his colleagues to meet, not at
the ICRC, but in town, at a very exclusive private club, the Cerclede la Terrasse.15

In his opening statement, Boissier emphasized that he had already answered
Ambassador Spinelli, who had called on him to deliver U Thant’s message, that
the ICRC could only consider the request from the United Nations if all three
parties directly concerned, namely Cuba, the USSR and the United States, asked
it to. He also recalled the Fundamental Principles of the Red Cross unanimously
adopted by the Council of Delegates in Prague, in October 1961, in particular the
principle of humanity, according to which: “the Red Cross promotes … mutual
understanding, cooperation and lasting peace amongst all peoples”.16 He
underscored that the crisis was the most serious facing humanity since that of
Munich inSeptember 1938and thatno less thanglobal peace wasat stake.17 Lastly,
he pointed out that if the Committee agreed to the request, it would be embarking

on an entirely new activity that would constitute a first step along the path
outlined in the Fundamental Principles. If it refused, “it will stand accused – if the
worst were to happen – of having failedto act and not having done all in its power,

15 The ICRC’s Archives contain no written record of the extraordinary session that took
place there. However, during the interviews conducted on 22 and 23 June 1989 by Paul
Reynard, Melchior Borsinger said that Boissier called him very early in the morning, at
around 6 a.m., and instructedhim immediately toconvene theCommittee members for
an extraordinary plenary session that would start at 11 a.m. at the Cercle de la Terrasse.
Accordingly, Borsingersaid, he called eachof the Committeemembers on the telephone
and informed them of the message from the United Nations secretary-general, which
Boissier had dictated to him over the phone. The meeting reportedly got under way
the same day at 11 a.m., and Boissier apparently urged his colleagues not to allow any
information to leak on the deliberations. The Committee members are said to have
discussed the matter until about 1.30 p.m., then broken for a quick lunch on the spot
before resuming their deliberations in the afternoon ICRC, Oral History, interview of
Melchior Borsinger von Baden, 22 and 23 June 1989, transcript, pp. 182–184). During
an interview with the author of this article on 12 August 2009, Professor Dietrich
Schindler, who was a member of the Committee at the time, unhesitatingly confirmed
Borsinger’s account.

16 The Council of Delegates is attended by representatives of the National Red Cross and
Red Crescent Societies, the ICRC and the League of Red Cross Societies today the
International Federationof Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies). In Prague in October

1961, the Council of Delegates had adopted–provisionally – the Declarationof the
Fundamental Principles of the Red Cross. To enter into force, the Declaration still had
to be endorsed by the InternationalConference of the Red Cross. Interestingly, the draft
declaration of the fundamental principles preparedby a joint ICRC/League committee
made no mention of peace. The reference was added during the deliberations at the
initiative of the Alliance of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies of the USSR.

17 The Cuban missile crisis was from many points of view far more serious than the
Munich crisis, since a nuclear war involving the United States and the Soviet Union would
within days – perhaps even hours – have caused more deaths and destruction than the
Second World War.
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by making its contribution, to eliminate the threat of war hanging over humanity”.

Observing that the United Nations representatives in Geneva were not
authorized to negotiate with the ICRC, Boissier recommended that a high-ranking
official be immediately dispatched to meet with U Thant, “to explore with him
the repercussions of the request made of the ICRC”, and said that, for a mission
of such importance, only one name could possibly come to mind, that of former
ICRC president Paul Ruegger.18

In conclusion, Boissier again stressed “the irrevocable and far-reaching
scope” of the decision to be made and exhorted his colleagues to give careful
thought to the pros and cons of a decision that would be historic in reach.19

Judging by the minutes of the meeting, however, Boissier made no reference
to the discussion Roger Gallopin had had – with his consent – with Martin Hill on
25 October, or to any subsequent contacts.20 The words he used left his colleagues
with the impression that the question was whether or not the ICRC should agree
to a request from the United Nations secretary-general, and not whether there
should be any follow-up to a request that the ICRC had, in fact, instigated.21

The president’s introduction was followed by an extensive debate that lasted
into the evening of Wednesday, 31 October and the morning of Thursday, 1

November. The Committee members inclined to three points of view.
Some felt that, by accepting such a mandate, “the ICRC would clearly overstep

its role, or rather the scope of its action, which must always be strictly limited

to questions of a purely humanitarian nature and to action in favour of the
direct victims of a state of open conflict or serious disturbances”. They feared that
the ICRC would compromise its humanitarian mandate by agreeing to take part
in an operation intended to provide a political settlement to the crisis: inspection
of ships on the high seas.

18 Paul Ruegger was president of the ICRC from 1948 to 1955.
19 ICRC Archives, A PV A Pl, Minutes of the Committee, plenary sessions, 31 October

and 1 November 1962, pp. 4–5 ICRC translation); Fischer, loc. cit., p. 301.
20 Although the minutes are not verbatim, it may be assumed that Boissier did not inform

his colleagues of Gallopin’s action, which is never mentioned in the subsequent discussions

or in later documents.Generally speaking, people at the ICRC considered that the
institution had been caught unprepared by the secretary-general’s appeal. At the time,
the reasons for the request gave rise tomuch speculation. On the basisof thedocuments
available today, Thomas Fischer concludes that it was U Thant himself who suggested
to the Soviet and American delegates that the ICRC be asked to inspect Cuba-bound
vessels (“As thedocuments clearly indicate, it was the Secretary-General who came up
with the proposal to consider the ICRC’s help in this matter”, Fischer, loc. cit., p. 296).
Today, however, it is obvious that UThant acted on the basis of Gallopin’s representation

of 25 October. Ultimately, therefore, it was the ICRC itself that took the initiative
and offered its services to the United Nations: “The document cited above hints that it
was the President of the ICRC, Léopold Boissier, himself who inspired the Secretary-
General’s idea to make use of the ICRC’s good offices in the crisis” Fischer, loc. cit.,
p. 296).

21 Roger Gallopin, who had not yet returned from New York, did not participate in the
plenary meeting of 31 October and 1 November 1962. In his report to the ICRC
Presidential Council on his mission to the United States, at the meeting of Monday, 12
November 1962, Gallopin, to judge by the minutes, breathed not aword about his contacts
with the United Nations.
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Others were of the view that “the ICRC could not refuse to offer its good
offices in an endeavour to promote peace and prevent war”. They feared that if
the ICRC refused to assist, it could be accused of having failed to act at a time
when global peace and the very survival of humanity were at stake.

A third group believed that before a final decision could be taken a mission
would have to be sent as soon as possible to New York. Information was required
on the terms of the mission to be conferred on the ICRC, so as to ensure that the
inspections would be effective and that it was possible to obtain the consent of all
the maritime powers whose merchant ships called at Cuban ports. 22

According to the account of Melchior Borsinger,23 who wrote the minutes of
the meeting, it was Professor Dietrich Schindler who, shedding his customary
reserve, tipped the scales in favour of Boissier’s pointofview, invokingan argument
as simple as it was unanswerable: he recalled that if the crisis resulted in a

thermonuclear war, the Red Cross would be unable to act at all.24 That argument
pulled the rug out fromunder thosewho wanted to reject the request of theUnited
Nations so as to preserve the ICRC’s humanitarian mandate. It was ultimately
this point of view that won the day.

But the members of the Assembly stipulated from the outset that while, in
the absence of any other neutral intermediary, the ICRC could envisage accepting

the mandate in an effort to prevent war, its independence, both of the United
Nations and of the three governments most concerned, would have to be spelled
out and upheld.

Inkeepingwith Boissier’s proposal, the Assemblydecided to send Paul Ruegger

to New York to examine, with the United Nations secretary-general, the
latter’s request. However, the secretary-general having stated that he had obtained
the consent of Washington and Moscow, it was agreed that Paul Ruegger would
leave only once the ICRC had received assurances that the Cuban Government
had also agreed to the proposal.

22 The great unknown in this respect was the People’s Republic of China, which was not
yet a member of the United Nations and with which the ICRC had practically no
relations at the time.

23 Melchior Borsinger 1915–2000) joined the ICRC in December 1940. At the time of
theCuban missile crisis, he was Léopold Boissier’s adviser and, as such, the Committee
secretary.

24 “The Committee wasn’t really able to make up its mind. You could tell that everyone
was aware of the urgency of the situation butwas also of two minds.I truly believe that.
They wereall torn, as I was on certain points, and theywereunable to decide. Itwas the
most silent, the least talkative of the Committee members who, for once almost miraculously

opened his mouth – Dietrich Schindler… I remember that moment as though it
were yesterday. Hesaid,‘Having listened to you, I personally think thatsince theworld
is on the brink of disasterandthat eachpassing hour bringsus closer toa thermonuclear
war, if such a disaster happens, the Red Cross will have no scope for action at all.
Humanity will be overcome. In these exceptional circumstances, therefore, the ICRC
must say yes.’ He was applauded.” ICRC, Oral History, interview of Melchior Borsinger

von Baden, 22 and 23 June 1989, transcript, p. 184, ICRC translation). Schindler
was a well-known expert in public international law, a professor at Zurich University
and a member of the Instituteof InternationalLawand of the Permanent Courtof
Arbitration. He was a member of the Committee from 1961 to 1973, and again from 1980 to
1994.

152 François Bugnion Confronting the unthinkable



The ICRC further resolved that it could not take responsibility for inspecting
Cuba-bound vessels, but only for lending its good offices to the United Nations
for the recruitment and constitution of a body of Swiss citizens who would carry
out that task as independently as possible.25

On 3November, the UnitedNations informed the ICRC thatwhile theCuban
Government was “negative on the questionof Red Cross officials being stationed
on Cuban territory, [it] had no objection to Red Cross inspection taking place on
the high seas”26.

As news of the appeal and of the ICRC’s positive response in principle had
been leaked in New York, the ICRC decided to spell out its position in a press
release.

Issued on 5 November 1962, the press release stated that the United Nations
secretary-general, acting with the consent of the United States and the Soviet
Union, had requested the ICRC’s assistance for visits of Cuba-bound vessels
on the high seas; it specified that the ICRC had been assured through the United
Nations that the Cuban Government would accept such a control.

The ICRC observed that “this is a task outside the conventional and
traditional scope of its humanitarian mission. However, in the best interest of peace,
recognized by the last assemblies of the Red Cross as being one of the organization’s

principles of action, and with the desire to spare mankind suffering which
it has attempted to alleviate during the course of international and civil wars, the
ICRC could consider lending its good offices to the United Nations. Nevertheless,

it would be unable to undertake any action without the formal agreement of
the three parties concerned. Furthermore, the ICRC could not assume direct
responsibility for the proposed operation, which would remain within the competence

of the United Nations and the States concerned. The International
Committee’s contribution would consist chiefly in recruiting personnel charged
with visiting the vessels. The carrying out of this control should conform to the
general principles of the Red Cross.”

In conclusion, the ICRC indicated that it had asked its former president, Paul
Ruegger, to proceed to New York to make contact with and obtain information
from the United Nations secretary-general and the representatives of the States
concerned, and that its definite decision would depend on the result of that
mission.27

The following day, Paul Ruegger and Melchior Borsinger, the president’s
diplomatic adviser, took off for New York on board TWA flight 803.28

25 ICRC Archives, A PV A Pl, Minutes of the Committee, plenary sessions, 31 October
and 1 November 1962, pp. 4–9; “The ICRC and the Cuban question”, press release
No. 770b, 5 November 1962.

26 ICRC Archives, B AG 200 060-011, letter from P. P. Spinelli, under-secretary-general,
representing the United Nations secretary-general, to the ICRC president,3November
1962.

27 “The ICRC and the Cuban question”, press release No. 770b of 5 November 1962.
28 Given the risks posedby themissilecrisisand theurgency of the UnitedNations request,

it may seem surprising that Ruegger and Borsinger left for New Yorkonly on 6 November;

afterall, the UnitedNations had informed the ICRC on 3November that theCuban
Government had agreed to its participation in the inspection of Cuba-bound vessels on
the high seas. The documents available in the ICRC’sArchives provide no explanation
of this 48-hour delay, which was probably due to the uncertainty generated by a situa-
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Paul Ruegger’s mission

The ICRC’s representatives arrived in New York on 6 November early in the
afternoon. Barely two hours after landing they were received at United Nations
headquarters by U Thant, accompanied by his principal staff members, for a
lengthy discussion.29 The following day they held separate meetings, togetherwith
Ambassador Omar Loutfi, under-secretary-general, with the representatives of
the United States, the Soviet Union and Cuba. Further meetings were held
between 8 and 10 November with United Nations officials and representatives of
the United States, the Soviet Union, Cuba, France and the United Kingdom. In
order to facilitate these meetings, the secretary-general’s chef de cabinet made
available to the ICRC’s representatives, on their arrival in New York, an office
on the 38th floor of the UnitedNations building,30 evidenceof the importance the
organization attached to Paul Ruegger’s mission. Pursuant to those discussions,
it was agreed that:

– the ICRC wouldappoint a team of some30 inspectors, not members of the
Committee,who would beplaced at the disposalof the UnitedNations and
under its authority;

– the red cross emblem would not be employed to cover this type of operation;

– eventual inspectionscould in no case give rise to a resort to forceful means;
if the inspectors were unable to carry out their search they were to confine
themselves to reporting to the head of their mission;

– the United Nations would be responsible for negotiating acceptance of
inspection by all powers under whose flag ships would sail for Cuba;

– regulations for inspection would conform to Red Cross principles;
– the secretary-general would grant extensive autonomy to the corps of

inspectors.31

tion that changed hour by hour and, perhaps, the confusion caused by the leaks in New
York about the mission.

29 ICRC Archives, A PV A Pl, “Rapport de M. l’Ambassadeur Paul Ruegger sur sa mis¬
sion auprès du Secrétaire général des Nations Unies à New York du 6 au 11 novembre
1962– établissement d’une procédure de vérification des cargaisons à destination de ce
pays sic)” hereinafter “Rapport de M. l’Ambassadeur Paul Ruegger”), document
SP 362 of 12 November 1962 appended to the minutes of the Extraordinary Plenary
Assembly of 12 November 1962, p. 2.

30 ICRC Archives, B AG 251 071-010, letter from C. V. Narasimham, the secretary¬
general’s chef de cabinet, to Paul Ruegger, 6 November 1962. The 38th floor of the
“Glass Palace” holds the secretary-general’s office and that of his closest staff.

31 ICRC Archives, B AG 200 060-011, telegrams of 7, 8 and 10 November 1962 from Paul
Ruegger to the ICRC, note from Paul Ruegger to Ambassador Loutfi, United Nations
under-secretary-general, 8 November 1962, letter from U Thant to Paul Ruegger and
appended memorandum,9November1962, and letter from ConstantinA. Stavropoulos,
United Nations legal counsel, to Paul Rueggerandappended memorandum,12 November

1962; ICRC Archives, A PV Pl, “Rapport de M. l’Ambassadeur Paul Ruegger”,
op. cit.
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The Committee met in extraordinary plenary session on 12 November to hear
Paul Ruegger’s report and decide on the follow-up required. At the end of that
meeting, the ICRC confirmed its availability. 32

In the meantime, however, the crisis was winding down. On 7 November, the
White House indicated that the United States and the USSR had reached an
agreement whereby American vessels would enter into contact with Soviet vessels

leaving the Caribbean to count the missiles being withdrawn from Cuba.33

The next day, five Sovietships, three of which were bringing ballistic missiles back
from Cuba, wereapproached and inspected by American navy vessels, the inspection

itself being conducted by means of helicopter overflights. 34 The assistance of
neutral inspectors was therefore no longer required, and, on 13 November, the
United Nations indicated that the plan for inspections by the ICRC would be
“kept in abeyance”.35 On 20 November, Kennedy stated that he had received
Khrushchev’s assurance that all Ilyushin 28 strategic bombers would be
withdrawn from Cuba within one month and announced the lifting of the quarantine.36

On 23 November 1962, U Thant sent a letter to Boissier thanking him for having
sent Paul Ruegger to New York and observing that, since the United States had
lifted the quarantine, ICRC action was no longer required. 37 The crisis had been
resolved.

32 ICRC Archives, APV APl, Minutes of the Committee, plenary sessions, extraordinary
plenary session of Monday, 12 November 1962, pp. 1–3 and annex; “Mr. Ruegger’s
Report to the ICRC”, press release No. 773b, 13 November 1962, and “The role of the
ICRC in the Cuban crisis, circular letter to the Central Committees of National Red
Cross Red Crescent, Red Lion and Sun) Societies, 15 November 1962, IRRC, No 21,
December 1962, pp. 655–656; “The International Committee of the Red Cross and
the Cuban Crisis”, IRRC, No 21, December 1962, pp. 653–657; Annual Report 1962,
pp. 33–35.

33 Keesing’s Contemporary Archives, 1963, p. 19239–19240; U Thant, op. cit., p. 119.
34 Ibid.; Fischer, loc. cit., pp. 303–304. Fischer points out in this respect that, for a short

time, the United States and the Soviet Union considered having the ICRC inspect not
only Soviet vessels bound for Cuba, but also those returning from Cuba and bringing
back to the USSR the missiles withdrawn from the Caribbean. That option had never,
however, been discussed with either thesecretary-general or the ICRC Fischer, loc. cit.,
p. 303, note 63).

35 Ibid.
36 Keesing’s Contemporary Archives, 1963, pp. 19239–19240; U Thant, op. cit., p. 191.
37 ICRC Archives, B AG 200 060-012, letter from U Thant to Léopold Boissier, 23 No¬

vember 1962.
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lors de sa fameuse «réforme» en même temps qu’il changera de
perruque et renoncera à ses bas blancs et à sa montre.33 Un autre exemple:
en 1725, la révision des ordonnances accouchera de cette étrange phrase
ouvrant l’article premier: «Sont défendus tous bijoux & joyaux, de
quelque nature qu’ils soient, à la réserve des bagues du prix de cent
écus.» En se référant aux éditions antérieures, de 1717 ou de 1722, on
comprend qu’il est ici question de la bague de noces que peuvent se

permettre les mariés de la première condition, mais ce raccourci
singulier dit bien en fin de compte la vérité: les bijoux sont interdits sauf
à ceux qui peuvent les payer très cher. Cent écus représentent à peu près
trois ans de salaire d’un ouvrier genevois au XVIIIe siècle.34

Codifiant la manière de vivre d’une population répartie en «conditions

» ou «qualités» autrement dit en classes, qui n’ont pas plus de
fondement légal que la «noblesse» dans le contrat social genevois, les
ordonnances somptuaires assument une part du récit que la République
genevoise tient sur elle-même: d’un côté, elles décrivent une société où
chacun, quel que soit son rang, est soumis à des règles, ce qui suppose
une forme d’égalité; mais elles contribuent en même temps à établir une
hiérarchie et définissent son étiquette. Ayant cessé depuis longtemps de
soutenir une vision religieuse, les ordonnances sont les règles d’un jeu
social qui compense par un discours de modération une répartition des
privilèges qu’elles organisent.

Jean-Jacques Rousseau et l’artisanat de luxe

C’est dans cette Genève-là que Rousseau voit le jour et vit ses premières
années. Centrale et récurrente dans son oeuvre, la question du luxe,
intrinsèquement liée à celle de l’inégalité, se noue pour lui, non pas dans
la République idéale et rhétorique dont il revendiquera d’être le citoyen,
mais dans l’expérience qu’il ne peut manquer de faire, très jeune, du
pouvoir de mise à distance qu’induit dans une société la puissance
économique. Dans la Lettre à d’Alembert, le Rousseau laudateur du
modèle genevois théorique vante les bienfaits des lois somptuaires.35

Rien d’étonnant à ce qu’il s’en méfie en revanche lorsqu’il réfléchit, à

33 Jean-Jacques Rousseau, Les Rêveries du promeneur solitaire 1776–1778), in: OEuvres
complètes, sous la dir. de Bernard Gagnebin et Marcel Raymond, Bibliothèque de la
Pléïade, t. 1, Paris, 1959, Troisième promenade, p. 1014.

34 Barbara Roth-Lochner,De labanche à l’étude:une histoire institutionnelle, professionnelle
et sociale du notariat genevois sous l’Ancien Régime, Genève, 1997, p. 538.

35 Jean-Jacques Rousseau, Lettre à d’Alembert sur son article Genève... 1758), in: OEuvres
complètes, sous la dir. de Bernard Gagnebin et Marcel Raymond, Bibliothèque de la
Pléïade, t. 5, Paris, 1995, p. 85.

12 Danielle Buyssens Rousseau citoyen d’une ville où le luxe est en débat
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Bemerkungen zur politischen Haltung von Ludwig von Moos
in den 30er Jahren

Angelo Garovi*

Anmerkung der Redaktion: Dieser Beitrag eröffnet eine Debatte, die in der nächsten
Nummer der «Schweizerischen Zeitschrift für Geschichte» mit Artikeln von Urs Altermatt
und Thomas Maissen fortgeführt wird.

Sporadisch taucht seit 1969, vor allem in der Presse, der Vorwurf auf, Bundesrat
Ludwig von Moos hätte eine bräunliche Vergangenheit und antisemitische Haltung
gehabt, zuletzt in einem NZZ-Artikel vom 26. Januar 2011 von Thomas Maissen.
Ein Blick in die Akten des Privatarchivs von Moos zeigt, dass diese Aussage nicht
der Wahrheit entspricht.

Angelo Garovi, Dählhölzliweg 8, CH-3005 Bern. garovibern@gmx.ch
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Es war das Anliegen einiger «68-er» durch einseitige Darstellung linksextremer

Ideen das sogenannte Establishment anzugreifen und bürgerliche Politiker
als Exponenten desFaschismus und des Antikommunismus abzuschiessen.1 Ludwig

von Moos war als Vertreter einer staatlichen «Autorität» und als Justiz- und
Polizeiminister an vorderster Front der Abschusslinie. So hat die von Paul Ignaz
Vogel herausgegebene neutralität 1969/1970 – vor allem als Kampagne gegen das
1969 erschienene Zivilverteidigungsbuch2 – den damaligen Bundespräsidenten
als Antikommunisten und Antisemiten bezeichnet und ihn zum Rücktritt
aufgefordert, da er «mit dem Faschismus gross geworden»sei.3 Als Belege hierfür dienten,

in einem ungezeichneten Artikel, aus dem Zusammenhang gerissene Zitate
aus dem Obwaldner Volksfreund der 30er Jahre, als der junge Ludwig von Moos
gelegentlicher Korrespondent und ab 1934 nebenamtlicher Redaktor dieser
Zeitung war. Von den angeführten Texten stammte keiner aus der Feder von
Ludwig von Moos. Die in der neutralität gemachten Vorwürfe erwiesen sich als
unbegründet und wurden damals, mit Ausnahme von wenigen Blättern, verurteilt.

* Der Autor war Staatsarchivar des Kantons Obwalden und Linguistikprofessor an der
Universität Basel.

1 ZudenverschiedenenGruppierungenvgl. DominiqueWilser,Drei Gruppen der Neuen
Linken auf der Suche nach der Revolution, Zürich 1996.

2 ZurEntstehungdes Zivilverteidigungsbuches vgl. Rolf Löffler,«Zivilverteidigung – die
Entstehung des roten Büchleins» in: SZG Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Geschichte)
2004 54. Jg.), S. 173–187.

3 neutralität. Kritische Schweizer Zeitschrift für Politik und Kultur, 8. Jg., Januar 1970,
2. Aufl. mit Kommentar), S. 39.



Trotzdem wurden und werden noch heute diese Behauptungen von Journalisten

und vereinzelt von Historikern übernommen. So auch von Jacques Picard
in seiner Berner Dissertation über die Juden in der Schweiz. Picard übernimmt
die Aussagen der neutralität kritiklos in die Forschungsliteratur. Es wird behauptet,

dass unter der Redaktion von Ludwig von Moos der Obwaldner Volksfreund
«im trüben und giftigenBrunnenwasser judenfeindlicher Vorurteile» gefischt und
«mit ständisch-korporativ gesinnten Jungkonservativen auf eine Umgestaltung
der Demokratie im Sinne des Frontismus» gedrängt habe.4 Keine solchen
Vorwürfe findensich in dereinschlägigen ForschungsliteraturvonPeter Stadler, Beat
Glaus, Walter Wolf, Urs Altermatt, Quirin Weber, Aram Mattioli und anderen.

Wie verhält es sich mit diesen Anschuldigungen, wenn man anhand von
Dokumenten den Politiker und natürlich auch den Menschen Ludwig von Moos5
zu erfassen sucht – und vor allem die Texte so liest, wie sie gemeint sind? In
diesem Sinne seien in dieser nachgetragenen Entgegnung einige Aussagen von
ihm, insbesondere aus dem umfangreichen Nachlass, angeführt und in den
zeitgeschichtlichen Kontext gestellt.

Klar gegen die «Fronten mit dem ausgesprochenen Faschismus»

Schon der 23jährige Freiburger Student und StV-er Ludwig von Moos hat totalitäre

Systeme in Artikeln und Aussagen kritisiert. Er distanzierte sich früh, vier
Monate nach der Machtergreifung Hitlers, vom Nationalsozialismus6 und von der
Nationalen Front:7 «Eine neue Gruppe, Front oder Partei brauchen wir uns weder
von Zürich noch vom Ausland her aufdrängen zu lassen. Wir lehnen den Hacken-kreuz-

Nationalismus ab.»8

Und drei Wochen früher, beim ersten und letzten Auftreten von NS-Anhängern

im Hotel «Metzgern» in Sarnen, stellt er die Frage: «Warum kann man nicht,
auf dem Studium und der Kenntnis vom organischen Werden der Eidgenossenschaft

und von Land und Volk der Heimat besonnen aufbauend, der guten Sache
dienen, statt mit Abklatsch eines ganz unschweizerischen Wesens Unwillen und
Unheil zu stiften?» 9

Ähnlich deutlich tritt von Moos am 24. August 1933 in Zug als Hauptreferent
der Generalversammlung des Schweizerischen Studentenvereins auf. Die
Versammlung bestätigt ausdrücklich das vom CC Zentralkomitee) am 16. Mai 1933
erlassene Verbot, in die Fronten einzutreten, und statuiert für Zuwiderhandlungen

den Ausschluss aus dem Verein. In seinem Referat betont er, dass es für die
Katholiken, falls sie sich auf die verschiedenen Fronten verteilen und zersplittern

4 Jacques Picard, Die Schweiz und die Juden 1933–1945, 2. Aufl. Zürich 1994, S. 77
Quellenangabe in Anm. 126).

5 Vgl. auch Gedenkschrift Ludwig von Moos. Begleitheft zur Sonderausstellung «Ludwig
von Moos. Der Obwaldner Bundesrat von 1960 bis 1971» im Historischen Museum
Obwalden, Sarnen 2010.

6 Vgl. dazu Walther Hofer, Die Diktatur Hitlers bis zumBeginn des ZweitenWeltkrieges,
Konstanz 1960, und Michael Burleigh, Die Zeit des Nationalsozialismus. Eine
Gesamtdarstellung, Frankfurt a.M. 2000.

7 Vgl. dazu BeatGlaus,Die Nationale Front.Eine Schweizer faschistische Bewegung 1930
bis 1940, Zürich/Einsiedeln/Köln 1969.

8 Obwaldner Volksfreund OV), 6.5.1933.
9 OV 15.4.1933.
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würden, nichts anderes bedeute, als dass sie als massgebender politischer Faktor
erledigt wären.«Und wenneine Neuordnung des Staatsgrundgesetzes10 angestrebt
wird, dann können wir nicht tatenlos abseits stehen, sondern haben selbst aus
unserer VerantwortungundTradition heraus in ersterLinie unseresoliden Bausteine
beizutragen. Konfessionelle Ausnahmeartikel dürfen nicht in einer neuen
Bundesverfassung stehen.»11

Diese konfessionellen Ausnahmeartikel 12 Jesuitenverbot und Verbot der
Errichtung neuer Klöster) waren ein wichtiger Grund, weshalb auch die
Jungkonservativen, unterstützt durch die Schweizerische Konservative Volkspartei, eine
Totalrevision der Bundesverfassung13anregten; für Ludwig von Moos waren diese
Artikel in der Verfassung von 1874 «Ausnahmerecht» aus der Zeit des
Kulturkampfes. Er wird als Ständerat in seiner Motion vom 24. Juni 1954 diese Forderung

zur Aufhebung der Artikel 51 und 52 BV wieder aufnehmen. Diese werden
dann ersatzlos gestrichen aufgrund einer eidgenössischen Volksabstimmung vom
20. Mai 1973.

SeinReferat zeigt alsounmissverständlich,dass sich von Moos schon 1933 klar
positioniert hat und gegenüber den Fronten eine klare und eindeutige Grenzlinie
zu ziehenwusste:«Eine Form der Staatsbildung aber,die durch Jahrhunderte
hindurch sich als einem Volke angepasst gezeigt hat, muss seinem Wesen in irgendeiner

Weise entsprechen und darf nicht ungestraft übersehen oder weggeworfen
werden. So sind Demokratie und Föderalismus Grundpfeiler unserer Staatsordnung.

Das Schweizervolk wird weder dem Wesen noch dem Namen nach je eine
Diktatur ertragen können.»14 Und im März 1934 warnt L. von Moos vor den Fronten15

mit dem «ausgesprochenen Faschismus, der ebenfalls, bewusst oder
unbewusst, auf die Errichtung einer Diktatur hin tendiert»16

Ludwig von Moos und die Jungkonservativen im Aufbruch der frühen 30er Jahre

Aus der Zeitgeschichte der frühen 30er Jahre weiss man, dass sich der Schweizerische

Studentenverein und die Jungkonservativen in der damaligen Aufbruchstimmung

der Schweizer Jugend17 dem staatlichen und wirtschaftlichen Totalita-

10 Vgl. dazu Peter Stadler, «Die Diskussion um eine Totalrevision der Schweizerischen
Bundesverfassung 1933–1935» in: SZG 1969 19. Jg.), S. 75–169.

11 Rede «Unserestaatspolitische Aufgabe von heute» 24.8.1933, S. 17 Familienarchiv von
Moos, Reg.-Nr. 9. Der Autor dieses Beitrages hat als Schwiegersohn von L. von Moos
den umfassenden Nachlass im Auftrag der Familie inventarisiert und kennt das Privatarchiv

von L. von Moos bis in Einzelheiten hinein, so auch die Tagebücher und
Korrespondenzen mit den jeweils angehefteten Antwortkopien).

12 Vgl. dazuWerner Kägi, Gutachten zumJesuiten- undKlosterartikel der schweizerischen
Bundesverfassung vom 29. Mai 1874, Zürich 1973.

13 Vgl. Richtlinien «Neuordnung der Verfassung» vom 30. Juli 1933.
14 Rede «Unsere staatspolitische Aufgabe von heute» von L.v.M., S. 16.
15 Vgl.dazu WalterWolf, Faschismus inder Schweiz. Die Geschichte der Frontenbewegung

in der deutschen Schweiz 1930–1945, Zürich 1969.
16 Rede «Die schweizerische Demokratie» von L. von Moos, Alpnach 25.3.1934, S. 1

Familienarchiv von Moos, Reg.-Nr. 11).
17 Vgl.dazu PeterGilg,ErichGruner, «NationaleErneuerungsbewegungen inder Schweiz

1925–1940» in: VfZ Vierteljahreshefte für Zeitgeschichte) 14 1966), S. 1–25.
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rismus das in der Sozialenzyklika Quadragesimo anno von 193118 verankerte
Gedankengut von Pius XI. – der auch als erster Papst den Antisemitismus
verurteilte – entgegenstellten. Sie verfochten gegen links und rechts die zugleich
christliche und schweizerische Wesensart. Sie lehnten den Sozialismus und den
Liberalismus ab und setzten sichmit den in der Enzyklika enthaltenen Gedanken
über eine christliche Gesellschaftsordnung, über soziale Gerechtigkeit in der
Wirtschaft, über das Subsidiaritätsprinzip auseinander – oft noch mit unklaren
Begriffen –,wobeiaberdiemeisten,wie von Moos, diese Ideen imEinklang sahen
mit den föderalistischen und genossenschaftlichen Strukturen der Schweizerischen

Eidgenossenschaft. Die kommunalen Korporationen sind in ihren
demokratischen Rechtsstrukturen heute noch vorbildlich.19

Die Jungkonservativen sahen 1933 die berufsständische Ordnung nicht den
Ständestaat!) im Sinne des Wirtschafts- und Sozialprogramms der Schweizer
Katholiken vom 4. Juli 1929 und der Enzyklika Quadragesimo anno20und überlegten
sich, wie eine solche Ordnung aussehen könnte.21 Die Idee der berufsständischkorporativen

Ordnung22 kam aber bald in Verruf, da die Gegner anführten, es

handle sich dabei um den faschistischen) Korporationenstaat oder den autoritären)

Ständestaat. Und so verschwand eigentlich schon im Herbst 1935 wohl mit
dem 8. September) der Ruf nach berufsständischer Ordnung wieder aus der
öffentlichen Diskussion.23 Die noch wenig konkrete Idee der Überbrückung der
Klassengegensätze durch das Zusammenführen von Arbeitgebern und
Arbeitnehmern inöffentlich-rechtlichen Berufsverbänden,ähnlich bäuerlichen)
Korporationen,24 war damit gescheitert.

Ludwig von Moos hat 1933 in einer Rede «Unsere staatspolitische Aufgabe
von heute» im Sinne der Grundideen und Prinzipien christlicher Politik wie folgt
definiert: «Unsere staatspolitische Aufgabe besteht, ganz allgemein gesagt, in der
Schaffungbzw.Erhaltung und VerbesserungunseresStaates, der Kantone und der
Schweizerischen Eidgenossenschaft, im Sinne der christlichen Auffassung von
Volk, Staat und Staatszweck, in Anpassung an unsere Bedürfnisse, unsere
Überlieferung und unsere Eigenart. Festhalten müssen wir an unseren Grundsätzen

undGrundforderungen in bezugauf den demokratischenund föderalistischen
Staat, die Familie, die Ehe, die Sittlichkeit, die Kindererziehung, die Schule, die
Freiheit der Kirche und der Religionsausübung.» 25

18 Lateinischer und deutscher Text im Internet; vgl. dazu auch Gustav Gundlach Hg.),
Soziale Rundschreiben Leos XIII. und Pius’ IX., 3. Aufl. Paderborn 1960, S. 65–157.

19 Vgl. dazudie Spiel-)Theorien vonElinorOstrom Wirtschaftsnobelpreisträgerin 2010):
Governing the Commons.TheEvolutionof Institutions for CollectiveAction,Cambridge
1990.

20 Vgl. dazuQuirinWeber, Korporatismus statt Sozialismus. Die Idee der berufsständischen
Ordnung im schweizerischen Katholizismus der Zwischenkriegszeit, Freiburg 1989,
sowie Peter Stadler, «Zwischen Klassenkampf, Ständestaat und Genossenschaft.
Politische Ideologie im schweizerischen Geschichtsbild der Zwischenkriegszeit» in: HZ
Historische Zeitschrift) 219 1974), S. 290–358.

21 Vgl. dazu etwa Karl Hackhofer, neue zeit: neue ordnung, Silvaniadruck Nr. 30, 1934.
22 Quadragesimo anno Nr. 81–87.
23 So L. von Moos in einem Schreiben an Quirin Weber, 15.4.1985 Kopie im Familien¬

archiv von Moos, N l.61, Korrespondenzen).
24 Rede «Die schweizerische Demokratie» von L. von Moos, S. 8.
25 Rede «Unsere staatspolitische Aufgabe von heute» von L. von Moos, S. 3 und 5.
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Die Weltwirtschaftskrise und der Warenhausbeschluss von 1933

Die Thematik der 30er Jahre ist wesentlich durch die Weltwirtschaftskrise
bestimmt, «so dass dieDiskussion um die Wirtschaftspolitik beinahe in alle
Lebensbereiche hineinleuchtet» 26 Die Erneuerungsbewegung «Neue Schweiz» forderte
den Schutz des gewerblichen Mittelstandes gegen Grossunternehmungen im
Detailhandel. Diese Forderung nach dem Schutz kleinerer Geschäfte kam natürlich

auch im bäuerlichen Kanton Obwalden zur Sprache. Im ganzen Diskurs über
diese frühen 30er Jahre darf man das geistige Umfeld nicht aus dem Auge
verlieren:Wirtschaftskriseseit demNew Yorker Börsenkrach 1929,Arbeitslosigkeit,
Sammlung von Unterschriften für die – auch von den Jungbauern unterstützte –
Kriseninitiative, die dann am 2. Juni 1935 verworfen wurde. In dieser Krisenzeit
wurden die Warenhäuser als typische Zeichen der Grossstadt und der modernen
Zeit «zur Zielscheibe einer heftigen politischen und ökonomischen Kritik» 27 Der
Bundesrat versuchteam5. September 193328 mit einemBundesbeschluss der
Neuerrichtung und Erweiterung von Warenhäusern entgegenzuwirken.29 Und da die
Warenhäuser weitgehend in jüdischen Händen lagen, wurden die Juden damit
identifiziert und in der leidenschaftlich geführten Diskussion mit dem in der
Weimarer Republik aufgekommenen Begriff «Warenhausjudentum» belegt, der
auch einmal vor dem Hintergrund der Warenhausdiskussion im Obwaldner
Volksfreund30 übernommen wurde.

Judenkritik gleich Antisemitismus?31

Judenkritische Äusserungen finden sich, wie in andern Schweizer Zeitungen,32

auch vereinzelt im Obwaldner Volksfreund. Sie stammten aber nicht aus der
Feder von Ludwig von Moos. Wie Konrad Zollinger in seiner Zürcher Dissertation

über die Presse 1933 im Hinblick auf die Fronten schreibt, kamen bei
kleinen Blättern «viele Artikel jeweils von auswärts, sei es von ungenannten
Einsendern, sei es von Agenturen oder von Korrespondenzbureaus» 33 Das war auch
beim Obwaldner Volksfreund so. Die wenigen Notizen judenkritischen Inhalts
stammten ausdem Basler Volksblatt, der Zürichsee-Zeitung, aus der Innerschweizer

Bauernzeitung und aus einem bäuerlichen «Fachblatt» so z.B. «Der Jude im

26 Geschichte der Schweiz – und der Schweizer, Basel 1983, Band 3, S.188 hierzitiert nach
der ersten Auflage; 2006 in vierter unveränderter Auflage in einem Band erschienen).

27 Vgl. dazu von Hans Ulrich Jost das Kapitel «Weltwirtschaftskrise» in Geschichte der
Schweiz – und der Schweizer, 1983, Bd. 3, S. 149–153, hier 153.

28 BBl 1933 II139 Verbotzur Neuerrichtung und Erweiterung von Warenhäusern, Kauf¬
häusern, Einheitspreisgeschäften und Filialgeschäften).

29 Vgl. dazu – aus verfassungsrechtlicher Sicht – David Reich, Direkte Demokratie in der
Krise. Die Funktion des Notrechts in der Schweiz während Weltwirtschaftskrise und
Zweitem Weltkrieg dargestellt am Beispiel des Warenhausbeschlusses 1933–1945, Basler
Studien zur Rechtswissenschaft, Reihe D: Grundlagen Bd. 2, Basel 2007.

30 OV, 6.5.1933.
31 Vgl. dazu auch Aram Mattioli Hg.), Antisemitismus in der Schweiz 1848–1960, Zürich

1998.
32 Vgl.Konrad Zollinger, Die Haltung der Schweizer Presse zum Frontismus1933: Frischer

Wind oder faschistische Revolution?, Zürich 1991.
33 Zollinger, op. cit., S. 364.
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